
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

-----------------------------------------------------------------x 

MEDIEN PATENT VERWALTUNG AG, 

 

                                                      Plaintiff, 

 

                                        v. 

 

WARNER BROS. ENTERTAINMENT, INC., 

TECHNICOLOR INC., and DELUXE 

ENTERTAINMENT SERVICES GROUP, INC., 

 

                                                      Defendants. 

---------------------------------------------------------------x 

 

Case No.  10 cv 4119 MGC 

 

ECF CASE 

 

AMENDED COMPLAINT AND 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

  

 

 Plaintiff Medien Patent Verwaltung AG, by its attorneys Garbarini Law Group P.C., as 

and for its amended complaint against Defendants Warner Bros. Entertainment, Inc., Technicolor 

Inc., and Deluxe Entertainment Services Group, Inc., allege upon knowledge with respect to its 

own acts, and upon information and belief as to other matters, as follows: 

THE PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Medien Patent Verwaltung AG (“MPV”) is a Swiss corporation having a 

permanent place of business in Brunnen, Ingenbohl, Switzerland. 

2. Defendant Warner Bros. Entertainment, Inc. (“Warner Bros.”) is a Delaware 

corporation having a permanent place of business in Burbank, California. 

3. Warner Bros. is in the business of, inter alia, producing and distributing motion 

pictures nationally for theatrical exhibition.  Warner Bros. conducts a substantial amount of 

business in the Southern District of New York. 
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4. Defendant Technicolor, Inc. (“Technicolor”) is a Delaware corporation having a 

permanent place of business at 110 Leroy Street, in the City and State of New York. 

5. Technicolor is in the business of, inter alia, manufacturing release prints of 

motion pictures, for companies including Warner Bros., for theatrical exhibition. 

6. Defendant Deluxe Entertainment Services Group, Inc. (“Deluxe”) is a Delaware 

corporation having a permanent place of business at 435 Hudson Street in the City and State of 

New York. 

7. Deluxe is in the business of, inter alia, manufacturing release prints of motion 

pictures for theatrical exhibition. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This action arises under the patent laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. §§ 101 et 

seq.  This Court has jurisdiction of the claims asserted herein pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 

1338(a). 

9. This Court has in personam jurisdiction over Warner Bros. because Warner Bros. 

resides and conducts substantial business within this judicial district. 

10. This Court has in personam jurisdiction over Technicolor because Technicolor 

resides and conducts business within this judicial district. 

11. This Court has in personam jurisdiction over Deluxe because Deluxe resides and 

conducts business within this judicial district. 
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12. Venue is proper in this Court under 38 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c) and § 1400(b) 

because the Defendants reside and/or may be found in this judicial district and acts of 

infringement were committed in this judicial district. 

THE PATENT 

13. MPV is the assignee of United States Letters Patent No. 7,187,633 B2 entitled 

“Marking of a data medium material for information intended for reproduction” (the “„633 

Patent.”) 

14. The „633 Patent was duly and legally issued by the United States Patent and 

Trademark Office on March 6, 2007 to inventor Gerhard Lehmann, who has assigned all right, 

title, and interest in the patent to MPV. 

15. The „633 Patent issued from a United States patent application filed on May 14, 

2004, which claimed priority from a European patent application filed on July 11, 2003. 

16. A true and correct copy of the „633 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

17. The „633 Patent is directed to a mechanically readable medium and a method for 

making a mechanically readable medium, such as a motion picture film print, in which a 

distinctive code (the “Audio Code”) is inserted in the soundtrack of the print, thereby 

individualizing the print, according to the teaching of the patent. 

18. The invention of the „633 Patent is useful in combating unauthorized copying or 

“piracy” of a motion picture film print.  By using the invention a motion picture film print is 

individually and unmistakably marked.  Since this individual mark is automatically transferred to 
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any copy made from the marked print (regardless what media are used, e.g. camcorder tape, 

DVD or internet file) and since distribution of every film print is recorded to identify the 

particular theater to which the print is distributed, it is possible to determine that the product is 

illegal and exactly which theater or other place a pirated copy originated from.   

19. This allows the film industry to combat the more than six billion dollars a year 

lost due to pirated films. 

20. MPV asserts claims 3, 4, 7, 11, 12, 15, 19, 20, and 22 through 25 (inclusive) of the 

„633 Patent (the “Asserted Claims”). 

DEFENDANTS‟ KNOWLEDGE OF AND INFRINGEMENT OF THE PATENT 

21. The inventor of the „633 Patent, Gerhard Lehmann (“Lehmann”), disclosed his 

anti-piracy invention in intricate detail to representatives of Warner Bros. at a meeting held in 

Potsdam, Germany on or about September 17, 2003 under strict confidentiality (the “September 

Meeting”). 

22. Less than one month after the September Meeting, with knowledge of Lehmann‟s 

rights to the invention, Warner Bros. disclosed the invention to TS Provide (a German 

manufacturer of film prints, and not a party to this action) intending that they would practice the 

invention.   

23. Starting in October of 2003, many Warner Bros. releases in the German market 

contained the Audio Code.  An examination was made of nearly every Warner Bros. release on 

the German Market for months prior to the September Meeting, and not a single print contained 

the Audio Code. 

Case 1:10-cv-04119-CM   Document 3    Filed 05/21/10   Page 4 of 22



5 

 

24. Sometime after the September Meeting, with knowledge of Lehmann‟s rights to 

the invention, Warner Bros. disclosed the invention to Technicolor intending that they would 

practice the invention.   

25. By 2004, Warner Bros. began releasing movies incorporating the invention in 

prints throughout Europe.  Most of these prints were produced by various European Technicolor 

subsidiaries. 

26. Since the issuance of the „633 Patent, Technicolor has manufactured, sold, and 

distributed thousands of motion picture film prints in the United States incorporating the anti-

piracy invention of the „633 Patent. 

27. On information and belief, Technicolor manufactured, sold, and distributed the 

infringing prints as directed and instructed in the invention of the „633 Patent by Warner Bros. 

28. For example, Technicolor manufactured prints of the 2008 Warner Bros. film “The 

Dark Knight” for theatrical exhibition throughout the United States.  Those prints incorporated 

the anti-piracy invention of the „633 Patent.   

29. In 2006, and numerous times after, Lehman and MPV demanded Defendants 

Technicolor and Warner cease and desist in the infringement of the „633 patent; both Technicolor 

and Warner Bros. have continued to practice the invention. 

30. Since the issuance of the „633 Patent, Deluxe has manufactured, sold, and 

distributed tens of thousands of motion picture film prints in the United States incorporating the 

anti-piracy invention of the „633 Patent. 

Case 1:10-cv-04119-CM   Document 3    Filed 05/21/10   Page 5 of 22



6 

 

31. For example, Deluxe manufactured prints of the 2008 film “Indiana Jones and the 

Kingdom of the Crystal Skull” for theatrical exhibition throughout the United States.  Those 

prints incorporated the anti-piracy invention of the „633 Patent.   

32. In 2007, MPV demanded Deluxe cease and desist from incorporating the Audio 

Code in its film prints; Deluxe has continued to practice the invention. 

33. It is expected that discovery in this case will uncover further acts of infringement 

by each of the Defendants. 

34. The Defendants are not authorized by MPV to practice the invention of the '633 

Patent. 

35. The inventor Mr. Lehmann and MPV have been in communication with each of 

the Defendants on a number of occasions since the September Meeting and have clearly 

informed them of their patent rights, but the Defendants continue to practice the invention of the 

„633 Patent without authorization. 

36. Each of the Defendants‟ practice of the invention of the '633 Patent is and was 

with full knowledge of MPV‟s exclusive rights under the „633 Patent. 
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COUNT ONE 

 

INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 7,187,633 B1 

37. Paragraphs 1 through 36 are incorporated by reference. 

38. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), the Defendants have made, used, offered for 

sale, distributed and/or sold in the United States, film media that infringe one or more Asserted 

Claims of the „633 Patent. 

39. In violation of 35 U.S.C. §§ 271(b) and (c), the Defendants have actively induced 

the infringement of, and/or contributed to the infringement of, one or more Asserted Claims of 

the „633 Patent. 

40. The infringement of the „633 Patent by the Defendants has occurred with 

knowledge of the „633 Patent and has been willful and wanton. 

41. MPV has suffered and will continue to suffer serious and irreparable injury unless 

the Defendants‟ infringement of the „633 Patent is enjoined. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, MPV respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment in its favor and 

against the Defendants and grant the following relief: 

A.  A judgment that the Defendants have infringed the „633 Patent in violation of 

35 U.S.C. §§ 271(a), (b), and (c); 

B. A judgment that the Defendants‟ infringement of the „633 Patent has been willful 

and wanton; 

C. A permanent injunction, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283, enjoining the Defendants, 

and all persons in active concert or participation with the Defendants, from any further acts of 

infringement, inducement of infringement, or contributory infringement of the „633 Patent; 

D. An order, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284, awarding MPV damages adequate to 

compensate for the Defendants‟ infringement of the „633 Patent, in an amount to be determined 

at trial, but in no event less than a reasonable royalty; 

E. An order, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284, and based on the Defendants‟ willful and 

wanton infringement of the „633 Patent, trebling all damages awarded to MPV; 

F. An order, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284, awarding MPV interest on the damages 

and its costs incurred in this action; 

G. An order, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 285, finding that this is an exceptional case and 

awarding to MPV its reasonable attorneys‟ fees and costs incurred in this action, and 

H. Such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 
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